# **DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEE ADMINISTRATIVE RULES**

# **Table of Contents**

I.	INTENT	1
II.	ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION AND RESPONSIBILITY	1
	A. Impact Fees Administrator	1
	B. Other Departments	
III.	IMPOSITION OF IMPACT FEE	3
	A. Feepayer	
	B. Determination and Assessment of the Impact Fee	
	C. Payment Due [Collection Of Impact Fee]	
	D. Expiration of Building Permits	
	E. Private Security	
	F. Private Fire Protection or Rescue	
IV.	DETERMINATION OF AN IMPACT FEE BASED ON FEE SCHEDULES	6
	A. Payment from Schedule	6
	B. Residential Heated Area	7
	C. Non-Residential Floor Area	7
	D. Mixed Use Development	7
	E. Mixed Use Structures	7
	F. Shell Permit	8
	G. Change of Use	8
	H. Accessory or Auxiliary Uses	8
	I. House Moves and Mobile Home Moves	9
	J. Recreational Vehicles (RV's)	9
	K. Model Homes	9
	L. Remodeling and Redevelopment	9
	M. Miscellaneous Land Use Types	9
V.	INDEPENDENT FEE DETERMINATION	9
	A. Option of the Feepayer	9
	B. Notice of Intent by Feepayer	10
	C. Pre-Application Meeting	10
	D. Guidelines	
	E. Sufficiency Determination	11
	F. Determination of Impact Fee	11
	G. Effective Date	
	H. Application for Permit	12
VI.	COLLECTION AND DEPOSIT OF THE IMPACT FEE	
	A. Road (Transportation) Impact Fee	
	B. Drainage (Stormwater) Impact Fees	12

	C. Park and Recreation Impact Fees	
	D. Public Safety Impact Fees	12
VII.	USE OF IMPACT FEE FUNDS	13
V 11.	A. Purpose	
	B. System Improvements	
VIII.	REFUNDS	14
	A. Refund for failure to construct or provide service	14
	B. Refund of Excess Credits	
	C. Overpayment	
	D. Underpayment	15
IX.	EXEMPTIONS	15
1/1.	A. Must Be Claimed by Feepayers	
	B. Total Exemptions	
	C. Exemption Based on Error or Misrepresentation	
	D. Building Permit Applications Deemed Complete	
Х.	CREDITS	
	A. General Conditions	
	B. General Documentation and Procedures	
	C. Excess Credits	22
XI.	WAIVERS AND REDUCTIONS	23
281.	A. Affordable Housing	
	B. FAA Jurisdiction	
	C. Jobs – Housing Balance	
	D. Development in Metropolitan Redevelopment Areas	
	E. Economic Development	
XII.	AMENDMENTS	25
XIII.	EFFECTIVE DATE	<mark>26</mark>
EXHI	BITS	
	it A(Reserved)	
	it BImpact Fee Calculation Form	
	it CImpact Fee Credit Application	
	it DCertificate of Excess Credits	
	it EImpact Fee Schedule and Service Area Maps	
	it FDevelopment Agreement for Impact Fee Credits	
	it GIrrevocable Letter of Credit	
Exhib	it HNotice of Assignment of Credits	

- Exhibit I......Request for Reimbursement of Excess Credits Exhibit J......Certificate of Credit

## I. INTENT

The following Administrative Rules and procedures shall guide the Impact Fees Administrator in the administration of the City of Albuquerque Development Impact Fee Ordinance Enactment Nos. 0-2004-51, 0-2004-52, 0-2004-53, and 0-2004-54 (hereinafter referred to as the Impact Fee Ordinances, and Resolution 04-159) that become effective July 1, 2005. These Administrative Rules elaborate upon the administrative directions contained in the Impact Fee Ordinance and are intended to be used in conjunction with the Impact Fee Ordinance in their implementation and administration.

Tables and forms are provided for use in determining the amount of the impact fee for each land development activity. In construing these Rules, all words, phrases and terms contained here shall have the same meaning as defined in the City of Albuquerque Impact Fee Ordinances in the New Mexico Development Fee Act (§ 5-8-1 et seq., NMSA 1978) and the City of Albuquerque Subdivision Ordinance and Zoning Code.

## II. ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION AND RESPONSIBILITY

## A. Impact Fees Administrator

The Impact Fees Administrator is hereby authorized to interpret and enforce all provisions of these Rules and the appropriate Impact Fee Ordinance of the City of Albuquerque and to carry out the general administration of all impact fees enacted by the City of Albuquerque. The Impact Fees Administrator shall have the responsibility to carry out the following:

1. When no equivalent type of land use is present in either the fee schedule or in the City's Comprehensive Zone Code, or is a previously determined miscellaneous land use, the Impact Fees Administrator shall establish a fee applicable to the most nearly equivalent type of land use on the fee schedule.

2. When requested by the fee payer, the Impact Fees Administrator shall assess and certify the impact fee applicable to a particular development using the procedures described in the applicable Impact Fee Ordinance and in these Administrative Rules. The impact fee assessment certification shall be valid for a period of four (4) years.

a) The Impact Fees Administrator shall calculate and assess the impact fee as follows:

- i) Determine the applicable service area;
- ii) Determine the applicable land use category;

iii) Verify the number of dwelling units or the amount of gross floor area (whichever is applicable) in the development; and

iv) Multiply the number of dwelling units or the amount of gross floor area, whichever is applicable, by the applicable impact fee from the schedule in Exhibit E.

b) If the assessment occurs at the time of preliminary plat or site plan approval, the assessment may be estimated based on the applicable fee schedule and be finalized no later than building permit.

3. With respect to an independent fee determination (see section V.), the Impact Fees Administrator shall:

a) Conduct a pre-application meeting with the applicant and representatives of appropriate departments of the City;

b) Review the independent fee determination study for sufficiency, methodology, technical accuracy and findings; and

c) Establish the amount of the impact fee as a result of the independent study based on the procedures described in the applicable Impact Fee Ordinance and in these Administrative Rules.

4. The Impact Fees Administrator has sole authority to determine exemptions from a requirement to pay an impact fee or reduction in the amount of the fee.

5. The Impact Fees Administrator shall determine the availability of and the amount of any refund of an impact fee.

6. The Impact Fees Administrator shall calculate the additional impact fee due in the event of change of use, redevelopment, or modifications of an existing use.

7. The Impact Fees Administrator shall calculate and grant credits for contributions, dedications or improvements that may be used to offset any impact fee otherwise due.

8. The Impact Fees Administrator shall maintain separate interest bearing accounts clearly identifying the payor and category of capital improvements within the service area in which the fee was collected.

9. A notice of impact fee assessment for the site shall be included on the final plat.

#### **B.** Other Departments

Other departments and offices of the City of Albuquerque shall provide advice, information, or other such services upon the request of the Impact Fees Administrator.

## **III. IMPOSITION OF IMPACT FEE**

#### A. Feepayer

Any person who, after the effective date of the appropriate Impact Fee Ordinance, seeks to engage in a new development by applying to the City of Albuquerque for any of the following permits shall be required to pay an impact fee in the manner and amount set forth in the relevant Ordinance and in these Administrative Rules:

1. The issuance or extension of a building permit, or certificate of occupancy in the case of a mobile home.

2. The issuance or extension of a permit that would allow the construction or installation of a structure, including a mobile home, or

#### **B.** Determination and Assessment of the Impact Fee

1. General. The amount of the impact fee shall be determined by the Impact Fees Administrator, who shall receive assistance from other departments when necessary and appropriate. The Impact Fees Administrator shall determine whether the method of fee determination is based on the fee schedule contained in the appropriate Impact Fee Ordinance or by an independent fee determination study. The calculation of exemptions, refunds, and credits, and the determination of the net impact fee due shall also be the responsibility of the Impact Fees Administrator with the assistance of appropriate City of Albuquerque Departments.

2. Assessment of Fee. The impact fee shall be assessed as follows:

a) For land that is platted or replatted on or after July 1, 2005, the impact fee shall be assessed for new development no later than at the time the subdivision plat is recorded;

b) For land that received preliminary or final plat approval between December 10, 2004, and July 1, 2005 and is not exempt pursuant to paragraph d) below, or for development that occurs on existing lots of record, also not exempt pursuant to paragraph d, the impact fee shall be assessed at the time of plan check or issuance of a building permit;

c) Development approvals resulting in vested rights acquired prior to December 10, 2004 shall not be subject to an impact fee. However, development approvals resulting in vested rights acquired prior to December 10, 2004 shall be subject to an impact fee if a building permit has not been procured within two (2) years of the effective date of the impact fee ordinances.

d) For the purpose of the Impact Fee Ordinances and these Administrative Rules, vested rights shall mean development rights acquired and resulting from building

permit approval, final plat approval, preliminary plat approval, or EPC or DRB site plan for subdivision or site plan for building permit approval obtained prior to the enactment date (December 10, 2004) of the Impact Fee Ordinance. Vested rights arising from such approvals shall expire if a building permit has not been issued within two (2) years from the effective date of the Impact Fee Ordinance and the impact fee may be assessed and collected thereafter.

e) No impact fee shall be collected on applications for building permits that are deemed complete prior to July 1, 2005.

f) The fees in effect when an application for building permit is deemed complete are the impact fees to be collected.

g) The assessment of an impact fee shall be in writing and shall be valid for four years.

## C. Payment Due [Collection Of Impact Fee]

1. General. The impact fee shall be collected prior to issuance of a building permit. All payments shall be made in the following manner:

a) Payment by approved credit card, personal or business check, cashier's check, or money order payable to City of Albuquerque;

b) All payments are to be made at offices of the City of Albuquerque, Development and Building Services Division of the Planning Department; and

c) In lieu of monetary payment, up to 100% of an impact fee due may be paid by the use of applicable credits as defined in Section X.

2. Invalid Payment. In the event the payment of an impact fee subsequently proves to be invalid due to insufficient funds, improper execution, or for any other reason, then the following actions shall be taken:

a) The Impact Fees Administrator shall, within thirty (30) days of detection of such a deficiency, notify the feepayer, the contractor, and the property owner by certified mail that:

i) An impact fee amount is due by valid payment immediately upon receipt of said notice; and

ii) Permits, inspections or Certificates of Occupancy will not be issued until the amount is paid and, if not paid within thirty (30) days, the Impact Fees Administrator shall have authority to instruct the City of Albuquerque Building Department to stop all construction on the site until the payment is received.

b) No further building permits, construction permits, inspections or Certificate of Use and Occupancy (C.O.) shall be issued by the City of Albuquerque until the required impact fee is paid; and

c) The amount due shall be the amount of the impact fee plus the amount charged by the bank for the dishonored payment, plus a service charge as established by City of Albuquerque.

3. Credits Prior to Completion. In the event the feepayer has received approval from the Impact Fees Administrator for credits for construction of system improvements and the credits are to be applied before completion of the improvements, the following requirements shall be met:

a) The feepayer shall submit to the Impact Fees Administrator in the form attached as  $\underline{\text{Exhibit G}}$  an irrevocable letter of credit for an amount equal to 125% of the full amount of the completion cost of the system improvements. The letter of credit shall be payable to the City of Albuquerque and shall be approved by the City Attorney prior to acceptance;

b) The feepayer shall procure a City Work Order for the construction of the creditable improvements; which Work Order shall include:

i) A performance and warranty bond shall be issued by a company registered in and licensed to do business in the State of New Mexico, for the purpose of securing faithful performance of the construction and to indemnify the City for any damages associated with failure to satisfactorily perform construction, and shall be effective for one (1) year after the City issues a certificate of completion and acceptance;

ii) The performance and warranty bond shall be reviewed and approved by the City Attorney prior to acceptance of the bond by the Impact Fees Administrator; and

iii) The performance and warranty bond shall be renewed not later than sixty (60) days prior to the renewal date. In the event of a notice to cancel or of intent not to renew, the Impact Fees Administrator shall be entitled to declare a default and make demand on the full amount of the bond.

#### **D.** Expiration of Building Permits

1. If a building permit expires, is revoked, or is voluntarily surrendered and is, therefore, voided and no construction or improvement of land has commenced, then the feepayer shall be entitled to a refund, without interest, of 97% of the impact fee which was paid as a

condition for its issuance. The City shall retain 3% of the fee for administrative costs. The feepayer must submit an application for such a refund to the Impact Fees Administrator at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the permit. In the case of an expired permit which was obtained in whole or in part by the use of credits, only that portion not paid by credits may be refunded. The feepayer shall apply to the Impact Fees Administrator to reinstate the credits that were not utilized. Any request to reinstate a credit must be made at the time of reapplication or it shall be deemed waived.

2. If a refund has been received by the feepayer, the feepayer must pay the appropriate impact fee if reapplication is made for a permit. If a permit expires and no refund has been issued, a feepayer will not be required to pay the fee again if reapplication is made for the permit on the same lot, parcel or tract unless the use or size of the structure has changed within the previous four years of the original assessment. In the event the use or size of the structure has changed, the amount due would be the change in the amount of the fee based upon the new structure or use.

3. A credit for previous payment of an impact fee must be requested by the feepayer. Any credit not so requested at the time of reapplication shall be deemed waived by the feepayer.

4. A refund of the impact fee shall not be granted if the permit expires and construction has commenced. In this case, the feepayer will not have to pay the impact fee if reapplication is made for a permit for the same type and size of structure.

#### E. Private Security

No credit will be given against a public safety impact fee for the provision of private security services or facilities.

#### F. Private Fire Protection or Rescue

No credit will be given against a public safety impact fee for the provision of private fire protection or rescue services or facilities.

## IV. DETERMINATION OF AN IMPACT FEE BASED ON FEE SCHEDULES

#### A. Payment from Schedule

The amount of the impact fee shall be determined from the fee schedule attached as  $\underline{\text{Exhibit } E}$  and utilizing  $\underline{\text{Exhibit } B}$ , Impact Fee Calculation Form:

If the type of land use is not specified in the fee schedule or in the City's Comprehensive Zone Code, the Impact Fees Administrator shall apply the fee of the most nearly equivalent type of land use on the fee schedule.

The Impact Fees Administrator shall be guided in the selection of a comparable land use type by the City of Albuquerque Comprehensive Plan and the land development regulations of the City of Albuquerque, including but not limited to the Comprehensive Zone Code and Subdivision Ordinance.

If a feepayer shall opt not to have the impact fee determined according to the fee schedule, then the feepayer shall prepare and submit an independent fee determination study in accordance with the appropriate Impact Fee Ordinance.

In the event that the sub-classification of a particular use of land into the classification established by the Ordinance is unclear, the North American Industry Classification System, United States, latest edition, shall be used as a guide.

#### **B.** Residential Heated Area

The amount of the impact fee for residential structures shall be based on the floor area of the structure that is designed to be provided with heat and/or air conditioning and not on gross floor area of the structure.

#### C. Gross Floor Area

The amount of the impact fee for non-residential structures shall be based on the total floor area, including basements, mezzanines and upper floors, if any, expressed in square feet and measured from the outside surface of the outside walls.

#### D. Mixed Use Development

If a development includes both residential and non-residential uses, the impact fee is to be assessed for each use based on the fee schedule and the results added together. If the owner can substantiate that the impact of the mixed use project justifies a lower impact fee proportionate to the impact reduction, then the Impact Fees Administrator may consider a proportionate reduction of the impact fee. The Impact Fees Administrator is encouraged to utilize the Shared Parking section of the Zoning Code, the ULI Shared Parking Standards, and the ITE Manual for guidance.

#### E. Mixed Use Structures

If a structure includes both residential and non-residential uses, the impact fee is to be assessed for each use individually based on the relevant fee schedule and the results added together. If the owner can substantiate that the impact of the mixed use project justifies a lower impact fee proportionate to the impact reduction, then the Impact Fees Administrator may consider a proportionate reduction of the impact fee. The Impact Fees Administrator is encouraged to utilize the Shared Parking section of the Zoning Code, the ULI Shared Parking Standards, and the ITE Manual for guidance.

## F. Shell Permit

Subject to the following qualifications, an impact fee shall not be assessed for tenant development improvements. Builders will often apply for a building permit to construct the "shell" of a building. Remodeling permits would be issued later to finish construction of the interior of the structure. The impact fee shall be paid prior to the issuance of the building permit for construction of the shell. The amount of the fee should be based on the intended land use as described by the builder. If a builder applies for a "shell" permit and the intended land use is not known, the impact fee shall be assessed based on that land use which generates the greatest impact and is allowed under the existing zoning for the lot or parcel. If it is found during review of the application for a Tenant Improvement Permit that the actual land use differs from the intended land use as described in the application, a determination shall be made as to whether or not an additional impact fee is due based on the procedures for Change of Use. If so, the additional impact fee shall be paid prior to the issuance of the Tenant Improvement Permit. If it is determined that there has been an over-payment of an impact fee, a refund would become available pursuant to the refund provisions of these Administrative Rules.

If a shell permit is deemed complete prior to July 1, 2005, and left unfinished, an impact fee shall not be assessed at the time of reapplication of a shell permit. Subsequent change of use, redevelopment, or modification of the structure may be subject to an impact fee based on the procedures for Change of Use.

#### G. Change of Use

In the case of a change of use, redevelopment, or modification of an existing use which requires the issuance of a building permit, the impact fee shall be based upon the net increase in the impact fee for the new use as compared to the previous use. The amount of the impact fee that is due as a result of the change in land use shall be determined at the time the feepayer applies for a building permit. The impact fee shall be paid prior to the issuance of a building permit for construction or remodeling.

Previous land use shall be the lawful land use physically existing on the effective date of the Ordinance or the current lawful land use. The feepayer shall furnish all documentation required by the Impact Fees Administrator to determine the previous use.

Should the change of use, redevelopment, or modification result in a net decrease in the impact fee, no refunds or credits for the impact fee previously paid shall be made.

If the change of land use does not require the issuance of a building permit, then there shall be no requirement to pay an impact fee.

#### H. Accessory or Auxiliary Uses

Generally, no impact fee shall be assessed for accessory or auxiliary land uses, such as a clubhouse or tennis court in an apartment complex, unless it can be established by the Impact Fees Administrator that the land use constitutes an independent function. However, structures

that meet the definition of a "dwelling" in the City of Albuquerque Building Code are not exempted as accessory or auxiliary uses.

#### I. House Moves and Mobile Home Moves

An impact fee shall be assessed for structures or mobile homes moved from one location to another unless the structure or unit being moved is a replacement of an equivalent use at the new location. If the structure or mobile home moved is replaced by an equivalent use at the old location, no impact fee shall be due for the replacement use.

## J. Recreational Vehicles (RV's)

The development of an RV site is the relevant regulatory issue for this Administrative Rule and the administration of an impact fee.

## K. Model Homes

Model homes on residentially zoned land shall be charged a residential impact fee. Model homes on non-residentially zoned land shall be charged a non-residential impact fee.

## L. Remodeling and Redevelopment

When a change of use, redevelopment or modification of an existing commercial use or building requires a building permit, the impact fee shall be calculated based on the pro-rata difference between previous use and the proposed use.

Remodeling or additions to single family dwelling units shall not be subject to an impact fee.

## M. Miscellaneous Land Use Types

The Impact Fees Administrator shall maintain a list of the rulings made of any administrative determination.

## V. INDEPENDENT FEE DETERMINATION

## A. Option of the Feepayer

If a feepayer shall opt not to have an impact fee determined according to the fee schedule in  $\underline{\text{Exhibit E}}$ , then the feepayer shall prepare and submit an independent fee determination in accordance with these Administrative Rules and the appropriate impact fee. Any submission not so made at the time of building permit application shall be deemed waived.

The utilization of this option by the feepayer shall not exempt the applicant from paying the impact fee prior to the issuance of a building permit.

## **B.** Notice of Intent by Feepayer

The feepayer shall inform the Impact Fees Administrator of the feepayer's intent to utilize an independent fee determination. The Impact Fees Administrator shall then schedule a preapplication meeting with the applicant.

## C. Pre-Application Meeting

Before beginning the independent fee determination study, the feepayer or the feepayer's representative shall be given the opportunity to attend a pre-application meeting with the Impact Fees Administrator. The purpose of the pre-application meeting is to discuss the procedures of the independent fee determination study, the methodology to be employed, the standards to be met, and to reduce the meeting to a letter of understanding.

Results, conclusions, and agreements reached at the pre-application meeting regarding methodology, required forms or documentation, or procedures, which shall not constitute a waiver of ordinance provisions, shall be placed in a letter of understanding by the Impact Fees Administrator within fifteen (15) days from the pre-application meeting. A copy of this letter of understanding shall be sent to the applicant. The agreements set out in the letter of understanding will expire in thirty (30) days from receipt unless the applicant acknowledges acceptance of the agreements in writing to the Impact Fees Administrator.

The applicant may waive the pre-application meeting. Any applicant who waives a preapplication meeting has waived his/her right to administratively raise methodological or procedural issues at a subsequent time.

## D. Guidelines

1. The purpose of the independent determination study is to measure the impact of the development in question on the roadway facilities, drainage facilities, parks, recreation, trails, open space facilities, or the public safety facilities of the City of Albuquerque.

2. An independent fee determination study must address the expected impact of the development over the projected life of the structures on the system improvement. Any claim that the use or occupancy of the structures within the development will be different from normal use or occupancy must be supported by the appropriate zone change or other appropriate documentation that will support the claim.

3. The independent fee determination study shall follow the methodologies and formats, which are agreed upon during the pre-application meeting and be in accord with any documentation or methodology required by these Administrative Rules and the appropriate Impact Fee Ordinance.

4. The independent fee determination study shall be prepared and presented by qualified professionals in good standing in their respective fields. The methodology shall be consistent with best professional practice and support the central claim of the study. The study

shall provide all necessary supporting documentation and information. Failure to adhere to best professional standards is a basis for rejection of the study. The applicant's submission must be certified that the study complies with best professional practices.

5. The applicant shall submit the independent study to the Impact Fees Administrator.

6. The applicant shall provide the Impact Fees Administrator with the name, address and telephone number of the property owner, the professional preparing the study, and the applicant.

## E. Sufficiency Determination

1. The Impact Fees Administrator will review the independent fee determination study for sufficiency, methodology, technical accuracy and findings. The Impact Fees Administrator shall have thirty (30) days to review the study and to inform the applicant, in writing, of any deficiencies or defects in the study, or to find the study complete and acceptable. A notice of acceptance or non-acceptance shall be mailed to the applicant. In the event that the notice is not given within thirty (30) days, the study shall be considered complete and acceptable.

2. Upon receipt of a notice of non-acceptance, the applicant may modify or supplement the study and resubmit a modified study. The Impact Fees Administrator will consider the independent fee determination study to be withdrawn and the letter of understanding expired if the Impact Fees Administrator does not receive a response from the applicant within thirty (30) days of receipt of the above notice.

3. Upon receipt of a response or resubmittal of the study, the Impact Fees Administrator shall have thirty ((30) days to review the resubmittal or response and notify the applicant of any defects or deficiencies in the submission. If the Impact Fees Administrator finds deficiencies or defects in a resubmitted study, notice of such deficiencies or defects shall be provided as in 2. above. If the feepayer disagrees with the findings or decisions of the Impact Fees Administrator, the feepayer may appeal the decision as outlined in the applicable ordinance.

## F. Determination of Impact Fee

The determination of the amount of the applicable impact fee shall be made by the Impact Fees Administrator based on review of a complete and acceptable independent fee determination study.

## G. Effective Date

The effective date for an impact fee assessed by an independent fee determination study shall be the date at which the Impact Fees Administrator issues a notice of acceptance for the independent fee determination. The independent fee determination shall be valid for four (4) years.

## H. Application for Permit

It shall be the responsibility of the feepayer, at the time of application for a building permit, to present the approved independently determined fee as approved by the Impact Fees Administrator.

## VI. COLLECTION AND DEPOSIT OF THE IMPACT FEE

## A. Road (Transportation) Impact Fee

1. Service Areas. There are currently eight (8) Road (Transportation) Service Areas within the incorporated area of City of Albuquerque.

2. Deposit of the impact fee. All road impact fees collected shall be properly identified by road development impact fee service area and promptly transferred for deposit in the appropriate Road Development Impact Fee Fund to be held in a separate account until expended or encumbered in accord with these Rules and the Development Impact Fee Ordinance.

## **B.** Drainage (Stormwater) Impact Fees

1. Service Areas. There are currently five (5) Drainage (Stormwater) Service Areas within the incorporated area of City of Albuquerque.

2. Deposit of the impact fee. All drainage impact fees collected shall be properly identified by drainage development impact fee service area and promptly transferred for deposit in the appropriate Drainage Development Impact Fee Fund to be held in a separate account until expended or encumbered in accord with these Rules and the Development Impact Fee Ordinance.

## C. Park and Recreation Impact Fees

1. Service Areas. There are currently seven (7) Park and Recreation Development Impact Fee service areas within the City of Albuquerque.

2. Deposit of the impact fee. All park and recreation impact fees collected shall be properly identified by park and recreation development impact fee service area and promptly transferred for deposit in the appropriate Park and Recreation Development Impact Fee Fund to be held in a separate account until expended or encumbered in accord with these Rules and the Development Impact Fee Ordinance.

## D. Public Safety Impact Fees

1. Service Areas. There are currently two (2) Public Safety Impact Fee Service Areas.

2. Deposit of the impact fee. All public safety impact fees collected shall be properly identified and promptly transferred for deposit in the appropriate Public Safety Impact Fee Fund to be held in a separate account until expended or encumbered in accord with these Rules and the Development Impact Fee Ordinance.

## VII. USE OF IMPACT FEE FUNDS

## A. Purpose

1. Funds collected from Road, Drainage, Public Safety and Parks and Recreation, Trails and Open Space development impact fees shall be used for the purpose of acquiring and/or making systems improvements to Drainage Facilities, Public Safety Facilities, Parks Recreation, Trails and Open Space Facilities and Roads Facilities under the jurisdiction of the City of Albuquerque, the State of New Mexico, or other political subdivisions, and shall not be used for maintenance or operations.

## **B.** System Improvements

1. At least once each fiscal year the Impact Fees Administrator shall present to the City Council a report describing the amount of development impact fees collected, encumbered and used, and a proposed Component Capital Improvement Program for system improvements, which assigns funds, including any accrued interest, from the several Development Impact Fee Fund accounts to specific system improvement projects and related expenses. Monies, including any accrued interest, not assigned in any fiscal period shall be retained in the same Development Impact Fee Fund account until the next fiscal period except as provided by the refund provisions of this rule and the Development Impact Fee Ordinance.

2. Funds shall be used exclusively for acquisitions, expansions, or capital improvements on the City's Component Capital Improvements Plan and within the Development Impact Fee Service Area from which the funds were collected.

3. In the event that bonds or similar debt instruments are issued for advanced provision of capital facilities for which development impact fee may be expended, development impact fee may be used to pay debt service on such bonds or similar debt instruments to the extent that the facilities provided are of the type described in sub-paragraphs 1. and 2. above.

4. In the event a developer enters into an agreement with the City to construct, fund or contribute system improvements so that the amount of the credit created by such construction, funding or contribution is in excess of the development impact fee otherwise due, the developer shall be reimbursed for such excess construction funding or contribution from development impact fees paid by other developments located in the service area which is benefited by such improvements.

5. Only impact fees collected may be used to provide refunds.

6. Funds shall be considered expended on a first in, first out basis by the date received.

## VIII. REFUNDS

## A. Refund for failure to construct or provide service

1. The current owner of record of property on which an impact fee has been paid shall be entitled to a refund of the fee if the construction of the improvements for which the fee was paid are not completed and available to provide service within seven (7) years from the date of payment of the impact fee.

2. The current owner shall submit a written request for refund to the Impact Fees Administrator within one (1) year of the date giving rise to the right to claim a refund. Failure to make a written request within one (1) year shall constitute a waiver of the right to receive a refund.

a) The current owner shall provide evidence of ownership in the form of a deed or title report;

b) The Impact Fees Administrator shall make a written decision on the request for refund within thirty (30) days;

c) If a refund is due to the current owner of record, the City shall issue a refund payment within thirty (30) days of the written decision;

d) If the Impact Fees Administrator determines that a refund is not due, the current owner of the property may appeal the decision of the Impact Fees Administrator to the City's Environmental Planning Commission within thirty (30) days of the written decision;

e) The refund shall bear interest calculated from the date of collection of the impact fee to the date of refund as set forth in Section 56-8-3 NMSA, 1978; and

f) Refunds shall be made on a first in, first out basis by the date received. Prior to making a refund, the Impact Fees Administrator shall notify all eligible fee payers by certified mail of the opportunity to make application for a refund.

3. The Impact Fees Administrator shall review the impact fee revenues collected and expenditures made by service area seven (7) years following the effective date and annually thereafter. If revenues exceed expenditures by more than ten percent (10%), the City shall refund a pro rata share of the difference to the owner of record of each property for which an impact fee has been paid within the previous seven (7) years in the service area due a refund.

## **B.** Refund of Excess Credits

1. If excess credits have not been utilized, the credit holder may request a refund of the excess credits, which refund shall not include interest.

2. Application for refund of excess credits must be made at least ninety (90) days prior to expiration of the excess credit. Failure to apply for refund within ninety (90) days prior to expiration shall constitute a waiver of the credit holders right to reimbursement.

3. The Impact Fees Administrator shall refund excess credits on a first in, first out basis by the date received. Prior to making a refund of excess credits the Impact Fees Administrator shall notify all eligible excess creditholders by certified mail of the opportunity to redeem any excess credits.

4. The Impact Fees Administrator shall not be obligated to provide a refund of excess credits in the event there is no unencumbered account balance in the City's impact fee account for the applicable service category and service area.

## C. Overpayment

A refund, without interest, will be made if it is determined by the Impact Fees Administrator that an overpayment of an impact fee has occurred. Refunds under this section shall not be made more than one (1) year after overpayment of the impact fee has been determined.

## D. Underpayment

In the event the Impact Fees Administrator determines that an underpayment of an impact fee has occurred through error or misrepresentation by the feepayer, the Impact Fees Administrator may revoke inspections or withhold the issuance of any building permit or certificate of occupancy, or shall have the power to sue in law or equity as may be provided by law for relief in civil court to enforce the correct payment of the fee.

## IX. EXEMPTIONS

## A. Must Be Claimed by Feepayers

An exemption must be claimed by the feepayer no later than 30 days prior to the time of application for a building permit. Any exemption not so claimed shall be deemed waived by the feepayer. Applicants whose requests for exemptions from an impact fee are rejected may appeal the decision within thirty (30) days of the decision as outlined in the applicable impact fee ordinance.

## **B.** Total Exemptions

1. The following shall be exempted from payment of all impact fees:

a) Alteration of an existing building or use of land where the existing use of the property is not changed and there is no additional enclosed or open area in non-residential structures.

b) The construction of accessory or auxiliary buildings or structures incidental to a dwelling unit on a residential property.

c) Replacement of a lawfully permitted building, mobile home, recreational vehicle, trailer or structure with a new unit, building or structure of the same type, use and size. If the existing unit, building, or structure is torn down, destroyed by fire or other natural disaster, or otherwise eliminated or moved off the site, or if the original structure is converted to a utility building, garage, or other non-residential or non-commercial use the replacement structure will be exempt from the payment of an impact fee. The permit applicant shall document such replacement.

d) An amendment to a development approval provided that the amended development approval does not increase the number of service units.

2. In applying for the above-mentioned exemptions, it shall be the applicant's responsibility to furnish, as required by the Impact Fees Administrator, all materials and information necessary to validate the exemption which may include the following:

a) Current survey of the property by a registered professional licensed surveyor;

- b) Old and new construction plans;
- c) Official Certificate of Occupancy;
- d) Certified statements from owner stating past and proposed land use;
- e) Utility bills or receipts; and
- f) Property tax records.

## C. Exemption Based on Error or Misrepresentation

Exemptions from payment of an impact fee based on error or misrepresentation by the feepayer shall be subject to the provisions found in section VIII. D. of these Rules.

## D. Building Permit Applications Deemed Complete

1. Applications for building permits, which have been filed and deemed complete prior to July 1, 2005, shall not be subject to an impact fee. All other fees shall be applicable to the issuance of building permits.

## X. CREDITS

## A. General Conditions

An applicant may obtain credit for up to 100% of an impact fee otherwise due or to become due by offering to dedicate land, contribute cash, and/or construct improvements for City CCIP projects. Applicants shall file an Impact Fee Credit Application, <u>Exhibit C</u> with the Impact Fees Administrator. Any application for credit must be made and determined prior to the time of application for a building permit. Any claim not so made shall be deemed waived. Excess credits shall only be granted for the same category of system improvements and within the same service area for which the impact fee was imposed. The authority to determine credit lies exclusively with the Impact Fees Administrator. In every case impact fee credits shall be calculated so as to be consistent with Section 5-8-15 NMSA, 1978.

1. Credits may be granted subject to the following conditions:

a) Payments made or construction of system or off-site improvements between July 1, 2002 and July 1, 2005, provided the system or off-site improvements are on the City CCIP;

b) Payments made or construction of system improvements after June 10, 2005, provided the system improvements are on the City CCIP;

c) Credits shall only be granted for the value of system improvements listed on the City CCIP, including the value of any system studies;

d) Credits shall only become effective in the year the project appears on the City's CCIP;

e) Credits shall be applied first to offset the impact fee otherwise due for the development project for which the credit was granted; and

f) Upon approval of the impact fee credit application by the Impact Fees Administrator, the Impact Fees Administrator shall issue a certificate of credit to the applicant in the form attached as <u>Exhibit J</u>.

2. No credit shall be given for:

a) Private improvements;

b) Project Improvements (as defined by the Development Fees Act and the Impact Fee Ordinances);

c) System Improvements (as defined by the Development Fees Act and the Impact Fee Ordinance) that are not accepted by the City; and

d) Construction of improvements or conveyance of land for which consideration has previously been given by a governmental body.

## **B.** General Documentation and Procedures

An offer to make a payment, construct capital improvements or dedicate land in lieu of paying the impact fee shall be made in an application filed with the Impact Fees Administrator identifying the capital improvement and/or land dedication for which credits are requested. If the City of Albuquerque accepts such an offer, whether the acceptance is before or after the effective date of the appropriate Impact Fee Ordinance, the credit shall be determined and provided in the following manner:

1. Amount of credit requested. The applicant shall specify the dollar amount of the credit requested. The costs claimed by the applicant as the basis for the credit requested shall be no more than the actual costs or the fair market value as determined by the Impact Fees Administrator.

2. Documentation. It is the obligation of the applicant to submit written determination, to the satisfaction of the Impact Fees Administrator, that supports the amount of the credit requested and indicates the basis on which the amount requested was calculated.

3. Submittals for Construction Credits. Prior to site plan, preliminary plat or Work Order approval, the applicant shall enter into a Development Agreement for Credits, in the form attached as <u>Exhibit F</u>, with the City as a condition for the granting of the credits. The Development Agreement for Credits shall establish:

- a) The value of the credits;
- b) The method by which the credits shall be valued;

c) A requirement that the improvement be completed to applicable City standards;

d) A Construction Completion Deadline for the improvements;

e) Public liability insurance of at least \$1,000,000 per occurrence for which the City is an additional insured; and

f) A labor and material payment bond and a performance and warranty bond in favor of the City.

4. An applicant claiming credit for the construction of eligible system improvements and/or land dedication shall procure a City approved Work Order and provide the following information to the Impact Fees Administrator during development review or prior to application for the issuance of building permits:

a) Construction of System Improvements. The credit applicant shall submit a project description in sufficient detail with an engineer's cost estimate prepared by a professional engineer, to allow the Impact Fees Administrator to verify the cost estimates. The engineer's estimate shall include:

- i) Construction costs including NM gross receipts tax;
- ii) Design costs;
- iii) Land acquisition costs;
- iv) Testing, survey and inspection costs; and

v) In no case shall the cost for design, engineering, testing, surveying, inspections, and overhead constitute more than 17% of the construction credit granted.

b) Land Dedication. A credit applicant requesting credit for land dedication for approved improvements, shall present the following, as applicable:

i) An approved subdivision plat;

ii) A warranty deed to convey title to the appropriate governmental body;

iii) A title policy issued by a Title Insurance Company in good standing and authorized to do business in New Mexico;

iv) A certified copy of the most recent assessment of the property for tax purposes;

v) A certified statement from the county treasurer certifying that all property taxes are current and paid;

vi) A property appraisal prepared by qualified professionals approved by the City. In preparing their reports, appraisers shall value the land prior to any increase in value resulting from the development approval; and vii) Confirmation that the land to be dedicated is included in the City's CCIP.

5. Change Orders. No increase in the amount of approved credit will be authorized unless it is determined during actual construction of the agreed-to improvements that change orders are to be made incurring additional expense for items that are necessary and are not shown on the approved plans and estimates previously furnished to the Impact Fees Administrator. It shall be the feepayer's responsibility to obtain prior approval from the Impact Fees Administrator before all such change orders are made. All requests for an increase of the approved credit shall include all documentation required by the Impact Fees Administrator.

6. Acceptance of Construction for Credit. Credit against the impact fee otherwise due will not be provided until:

a) The construction is completed and accepted by the City as shown by a Certificate of Completion and Acceptance signed by the City Engineer;

b) As-built record drawings are submitted to the City and certified by a New Mexico registered engineer;

c) A suitable performance, maintenance or warranty bond or irrevocable letter of credit is submitted to and approved by the City Attorney; or

d) In the case of 6.f) below, upon completion of the agreed-to construction improvements and upon acceptance by the appropriate governmental authority pursuant to 6.a) above, the Bond may be reduced to an amount and a time period as provided for by the City to cover a maintenance period for the improvements;

e) All design, construction, inspection, testing, bonding and acceptance procedures are in strict compliance with the then current City ordinances and policies, as they may be applicable; and

f) Credit may be provided before completion of specified improvements if the feepayer posts a financial guaranty for the costs of such construction in the form of an irrevocable letter of credit to be posted with the City in an amount determined by the Impact Fees Administrator equal to 125% of the full cost of construction. In the event of cancellation of the financial guaranty, notice of intent to cancel or not to renew must be given to the Impact Fees Administrator no later than sixty (60) days prior to the renewal date. In such event of a notice to cancel or of intent not to renew, the Impact Fees Administrator shall be entitled to declare a default and collect the full amount of the financial guaranty. The financial guaranty shall be in the form attached as <u>Exhibit G</u>.

If the construction project will not be completed within two (2) years of the execution date of the Development Agreement for Impact Fee Credits, the amount of the financial guaranty shall be increased by 10% compounded for each year of the life of the financial

guaranty. The financial guaranty shall be reviewed and approved by the City Attorney prior to acceptance of the financial guaranty by the City.

In the event that: (1) the City receives notification from the guarantor that the financial guaranty is being canceled before all agreed-to improvements have been completed and accepted by the appropriate governmental body; or (2) the City determines that terms of the agreement for construction as set forth in the financial guaranty are not being complied with, then the City shall, in accordance with the terms of the financial guaranty, shall make demand on the financial guaranty and collect the full amount of the financial guaranty to be used for complete the improvements exceeds the amount received from the financial guaranty, the City shall have the right to sue in law or equity to recover the difference.

7. Acceptance of Land Dedication for credit. Credits for land dedication shall be granted when the following procedures have been completed and title to land has been delivered and accepted by the appropriate governmental body and recorded in the Bernalillo County Clerk's Office.

a) The delivery to the Impact Fees Administrator of a deed, with sufficient funds to pay all costs of transfer of title, including the recording of a subdivision plat if required;

b) The escrow or payment of taxes prorated to the date of closing; and

c) The issuance of a title insurance policy subsequent to recording of the deed and escrow of taxes.

8. Transferability of Credits. Impact fee credits may be transferable from one project or development to another if provided for in the Development Agreement for Impact Fee Credits with the City of Albuquerque.

9. Withdrawal of offer by Applicant. Any person who offers land and/or improvements in exchange for credits may withdraw the offer of dedication at any time prior to the execution of the Development Agreement and pay the full impact fee required by the appropriate Impact Fee Ordinance.

10. The value of credits granted for approved construction will be established by the Impact Fees Administrator and will be based on actual construction costs as defined and approved in the City's Work Order Close-Out Process. Should the developer request credits in advance of the actual construction of the improvements and post a financial guarantee to secure 125% of the estimated value of the credits, the Impact Fees Administrator will review the actual construction costs to ensure the value of the work meets or exceeds credits granted. The Agreement and Financial Guarantee will be released once the work has been accepted by the City and the value of credits has been confirmed by the Impact Fees Administrator. Should the value of the work established through the City's Work Order Close-Out Process exceed the value

of the estimated credits granted, the developer may request an increase in credits granted for a project from the Impact Fees Administrator.

Should the value of the work established through the City's Work Order Close-Out Process be less than the value of the estimated credits granted, the Impact Fees Administrator shall, at his option, be able to directly draw from the financial guarantee for the difference in those amounts.

## C. Excess Credits

1. If the value of the credits exceeds the amount of impact fee otherwise due, the applicant shall be entitled to excess credits and the Impact Fees Administrator shall issue a Certificate of Excess Credits in the form attached as <u>Exhibit D</u> to the applicant. The Certificate of Excess Credits shall state:

- a) Dollar amount of the excess credits;
- b) The system improvement category;
- c) Service area to which the excess credits may be applied;
- d) Name of the applicant as the original credit holder;

e) Description of the Component Capital Improvement Plan Project for which the excess credits were granted; and

f) The year(s) in which the excess credits may be applied.

The Certificate of Excess Credits shall be dated, executed and notarized by the Impact Fees Administrator and the applicant.

2. Excess credits shall only be applied for the same category of system improvements and within the same service area for which the impact fee was imposed.

3. Excess credit and credits shall be freely assignable provided notice to Impact Fees Administrator is provided prior to the assignment. The Notice of Assignment of Credits to the Impact Fees Administrator shall be in the form attached as <u>Exhibit H</u>.

4. Excess credits shall not accrue interest.

5. The Impact Fees Administrator shall upon request of the excess credit-holder reimburse excess credits on a first in, first out basis. The Request for Reimbursement of Excess Credits shall be in the form attached as <u>Exhibit I</u>. The Impact Fees Administrator shall not be obligated to provide reimbursement in the event there is no unencumbered account balance in the City's impact fee account for the applicable service category and service area.

6. Excess credits must be used or redeemed within seven (7) years of the effective date of the excess credits. Excess credits not used or redeemed within seven (7) years of the effective date shall expire.

## XI. WAIVERS AND REDUCTIONS

## A. Affordable Housing

## 1. Ownership Housing

a. Definition of Affordable: On the first working day of each fiscal year, the Department of Family and Community Services, or its successor Department, shall issue a determination of housing affordability based on the purchase price of a home. An affordable purchase price will be defined as what is affordable for a hypothetical household of four persons at 80% of Median Family Income (MFI), adjusted for family size as determined by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, if that household spends 30% of household income on housing costs and assumes a conventional mortgage at the Freddie Mac 30 year mortgage annual percentage rate published in the week prior to July 1.

b. Impact fees shall be waived completely on building permits for new housing units, that meet the definition of affordability, after the fee waiver, and are located in Metropolitan Redevelopment Areas, Planned Village Development Zones and Infill Development Zones.

c. In mixed income projects, 60% of the impact fees will be waived for affordable units that are located outside of the areas where impact fees are waived completely. In determining whether a development qualifies as a mixed-income project under R-04-159, the percentage of units that meet the definition of affordable, after the fee waiver, is at least 20% and not more than 50% of the total number of units in the development and also where at least 50% of the units have a sales price that is above the determination of housing affordability.

d. Finalization of impact fee waivers for affordable housing will be contingent upon an approved certification by the City of Albuquerque that documents the unit was purchased by an income qualified buyer at a price that does not exceed the determination of housing affordability and before closing can provide documentation that the loan is structured in such a way that the buyer is not making monthly payments greater than of their household income. Documentation of purchaser income will be completed by the mortgage lender on forms provided by the City and approved by the Department of Family and Community Services.

e. A deed restriction, or another mechanism for the amount of the waived impact fee, will be placed on the property when the developer can provide an executed purchase agreement for a house price that falls within what has been defined as affordable. Before closing on the property, the mortgage lender will provide documentation to the Department of Family & Community Services that the buyer is at or below 80% of MFI and is not paying more than 30% of their household income on the first mortgage. Once the City has reviewed and approved this documentation, the deed restriction or other mechanism will be released five years after the closing date. If the buyer can not be shown to meet the income guidelines defining affordability, the developer will be responsible for paying the impact fees to the City in order to release the deed restriction or other mechanism.

#### 2. Rental Housing

a. Definition of Affordable: On the first working day of each fiscal year, the Department of Family and Community Services or its successor Department shall issue a determination of affordability for rental housing calculated on the monthly rental costs for a housing unit occupied by a household at 60% and 80% of MFI adjusted for family size, as determined by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, paying 30% of monthly income on housing costs. In making this calculation, household size shall be converted to number of bedrooms per rental unit as follows:

Household Size	<u>Bedrooms</u>
1 & 2 Persons	1
3 Persons	2
4 Persons	3
5 Persons	4

b. Impact fees will be waived for rental housing only for those projects developed under an agreement with an agent of local, state, or Federal government which requires that a specified number of units be available at affordable rents only to households at or below 60% of MFI for a period of no less than fifteen years. The agreement must specify the income test used to identify renters that qualify for affordable units.

c. Impact fees for mixed income projects in adopted Centers and Corridors shall be waived completely proportionate to the percentage of units affordable to households at or below 60% of MFI adjusted for household size. For mixed income projects not located in adopted Centers and Corridors, 60% of impact fees will be waived proportionate to the percentage of units affordable to households at or below 60% of MFI adjusted for household size. To qualify for a waiver of impact fees for a mixed income project, the affordable units (at 60% MFI) must be at least 20% and not more than 40% of all units in the project. In addition, the agreement must specify that least 30% of the units will be at rents at or above the determination of affordability for households at 80% MFI adjusted for family size.

d. For rental projects that are not part of a mixed-income project, as defined in R-040-159, impact fees will be waived in proportion to the percentage of affordable units that will be reserved for households at or below 30% of MFI adjusted for family size.

## **B.** FAA Jurisdiction

1. Any development under the jurisdiction of the Federal Aviation Administration Grant Assurances shall not be subject to an impact fee.

## C. Jobs – Housing Balance

1. For every new building developed for the following uses, the Roadway Facilities Impact Fee will be reduced in the SW Mesa, W. Mesa and the NW Mesa service areas as follows:

Industrial or Manufacturing	70% reduction
Institutional	60% reduction
Office	50% reduction
Lodging, Retail, or Quality Restaurant*	30% reduction

\*A quality restaurant is a high quality, full-service eating establishment with turnover rates usually of at least one hour or longer. Quality restaurants generally do not serve breakfast; some do not serve lunch; all serve dinner. This type of restaurant usually requires reservations and is generally not part of a chain.

## D. Development in Metropolitan Redevelopment Areas

1. Nonresidential development within Metropolitan Redevelopment Areas (MRA) that conforms to the MRA and any sector development or area plan applicable within the MRA shall no be subject to impact fees.

## E. Economic Development

1. Development that has received City Council approval for or subject to Industrial Revenue bonds, Metropolitan Redevelopment Bonds, or the local Economic Development Act (Section 5-10-1 et. seq. NMSA, 1978), where an economic impact analysis has been conducted that indicates a positive economic impact on the City shall not be subject to an impact fee.

## XII. AMENDMENTS

All additions or changes to these Administrative Rules shall be subject to review and approval pursuant to the Development Process Manual process as agenda items during the regular meetings of the Development Process Manual Executive Committee. Copies of these Administrative Rules as revised and approved by the Mayor shall be made available to all City Staff who administer impact fees and shall be made available to members of the general public, upon request, at designated locations in the City of Albuquerque.

## XIII. EFFECTIVE DATE

These Administrative Rules shall take effect upon promulgation by the Mayor and filed in the Office of the City Clerk.

Approved this \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2005

## CITY OF ALBUQUERQUE, NEW MEXICO

By: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Martin J. Chavez, Mayor

By: \_\_\_\_\_\_\_City Clerk

Approved as to form:

City Attorney

# EXHIBIT A CITY OF ALBUQUERQUE

(RESERVED)

# **Exhibit B, Impact Fee Calculation Form City of Albuquerque**

SECTION 1:

	/		
Property Owner/Applicant			Contractor
/	1	/	
Building Permit Number	Permit Type		lot size (Acres)
	/		
Legal Description		Jo	b Address

The impact fee calculated herein has been determined based on the fee schedule adopted in Roadway Facilities Impact Fees Ordinance, Drainage Facilities Impact Fees Ordinance, Park, Recreation, Trails and Open Space Facilities Ordinance and the Public Safety Facilities Impact Fee Ordinance. This form is authorized only for those building projects expressly identified above. Changes or modifications to the building referred to above or amendments to the impact fee schedule contained in City of Albuquerque Development Impact Fee Ordinance shall render this calculation form null and void.

## ANY CLAIM FOR CREDIT OR EXEMPTION MUST BE MADE NO LATER THAN THE TIME OF APPLICATION FOR A BUILDING PERMIT OR PERMIT FOR MOBILE HOME INSTALLATION. ANY CLAIM NOT SO MADE SHALL BE DEEMED WAIVED.

#### PARKS, RECREATION, TRAILS AND OPEN SPACE FACILITIES IMPACT FEE Residential Only

<u>Residential Only</u>	
Service Area (See Exhibit E):	
Impact Fee / Service Unit (See Exhibit E):	
Service Unit (SU) = 1000 SF of heated area	
Square feet of residential heated area=	
Number of Service Units (SU's) = Heated area SF / 1000 SF =	
Park and Recreation Impact Fee = Number of SU's * Impact Fee / SU =	\$
Impact fee on the effective date $(6/10/05) = 34\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee six months after the effective date $(12/10/05) = 67\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee eighteen months after the effective date $(12/10/06 = 100\% =$	\$
	-
Credits (Attach copy of approved Impact Fee Credit Application) =	\$
Total Impact Credits =	\$ \$

## PUBLIC SAFETY FACILITIES IMPACT FEE

Residential	
Service Area (See Exhibit E):	
Impact Fee / Service Unit (See Exhibit E):	
Service Unit = $1000$ SF heated area	
Square feet of heated area:	
Number Service Units (SU's) = Square feet of heated area / 1000 SF =	
Public Safety Impact Fee = Number of SU's * Impact Fee / SU =	\$
Impact fee on the effective date $(6/10/05) = 34\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee six months after the effective date $(12/10/05) = 67\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee eighteen months after the effective date $(12/10/06 = 100\% =$	\$
Credits (Attach copy of approved Impact Fee Credit Application) =	\$
Total Impact Credits =	\$
Non-Residential (Retail/office/Industrial/Institutional)	
Service Area (See Exhibit E):	
Impact Fee / Service Unit (See Exhibit E):	
Service Unit (SU) = 1000 SF gross floor area	
Square feet of Gross Area:	
Public Safety Impact Fee = Number of SU's * Impact Fee / SU =	\$
Credits (Attach copy of approved Impact Fee Credit Application) =	\$
Total of Impact Credits =	\$
Impact for an the effective data $(\ell/10/05) = 240/$ * Impact For =	¢
Impact fee on the effective date $(6/10/05) = 34\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee six months after the effective date $(12/10/05) = 67\%$ * Impact Fee = Impact fee eighteen months after the effective date $(12/10/06 = 100\%) =$	\$
mpact lee eighteen months after the effective date (12/10/00 – 100% –	Ф
Credits (Attach copy of approved Impact Fee Credit Application) =	\$
Total Impact Credits =	\$

## **ROADWAY FACILITIES IMPACT FEE**

<u>Recreation (Racquet Club/Health Club/Spa/Dance Studio), Institutional (Hospital/Church), (</u>	Office, Retail,
Industry	<u>.</u>
Land Use:	
Service Area (See Attachment E):	
Impact Fee / Service Unit (See Attachment E) = Service Unit (SU) (See Attachment E) = 1000 SF gross floor area	
Square feet of gross floor area=	
Number Service Units (SU's) = Gross floor area SF / 1000 SF =	
Roadway Facilities Impact Fee = Number of SU * Impact Fee / SU =	\$
Impact fee on the effective date $(6/10/05) = 34\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee six months after the effective date $(12/10/05) = 67\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee eighteen months after the effective date $(12/10/06 = 100\% =$	\$
Credits (Attach copy of approved Impact Fee Credit Application) =	\$
Total Impact Credits =	\$
Residential	
Land Use:	
Service Area (See Attachment E):	
Impact Fee / Service Unit (See Attachment E) = Service Unit (SU) (See Attachment E) = Dwelling Unit	
Number of Dwelling Units (DU's) =	
Roadway Facilities Impact Fee = Number of DU's * Impact Fee / SU =	\$
Impact fee on the effective date $(6/10/05) = 34\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee six months after the effective date $(12/10/05) = 67\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee eighteen months after the effective date $(12/10/06 = 100\% =$	\$
Credits (Attach copy of approved Impact Fee Credit Application) =	\$
Total Impact Credits =	\$
Lodging (Hotel/Motel/RV Park)	
Land Use:	
Service Area (See Attachment E): Impact Fee / Service Unit (See Attachment E)=	
Service Unit (SU) (See Attachment E) = Room/RV	
Number of Rooms/RV Spaces =	
Roadway Facilities Impact Fee = Number of Rooms/RV Spaces * Impact Fee / SU =	\$
Impact fee on the effective date $(6/10/05) = 34\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee six months after the effective date $(12/10/05) = 67\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee eighteen months after the effective date $(12/10/06 = 100\% =$	\$
Credits (Attach copy of approved Impact Fee Credit Application) =	\$

Total Impact Credits = <u>Recreation (Golf Course/General Recreation/Movie Theaters w/Matinee)</u> Land Use: Service Area (See Attachment E): Impact Fee / Service Unit (See Attachment E) = Service Unit (SU) (See Attachment E) = Hole/Acre/Screen	\$
Number of Holes/Acres/Screens = Roadway Facilities Impact Fee = Number of Holes/Acres/Screens * Impact Fee / SU =	\$
Impact fee on the effective date $(6/10/05) = 34\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee six months after the effective date $(12/10/05) = 67\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee eighteen months after the effective date $(12/10/06) = 100\%$ =	\$
Credits (Attach copy of approved Impact Fee Credit Application) =	\$
Total Impact Credits =	\$
Institutional (Nursing Home/Elementary School/High School/Junior/Community <u>College/University/Cemetery</u> Land Use: Service Area (See Attachment E): Impact Fee / Service Unit (See Attachment E) = Service Unit (SU) (See Attachment E) = <u>Bed/Student/Acre</u> Number of Beds/Students/Acres =	
Roadway Facilities Impact Fee = Number of Beds/Students/Acres * Impact Fee / SU =	\$
Impact fee on the effective date $(6/10/05) = 34\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee six months after the effective date $(12/10/05) = 67\%$ * Impact Fee =	\$
Impact fee eighteen months after the effective date $(12/10/06) = 100\%$ =	\$
Credits (Attach copy of approved Impact Fee Credit Application) =	\$
Total Impact Credits =	\$

## **DRAINAGE FACILITIES IMPACT FEE**

All Land Uses

Service Area (See Exhibit E):

Impact Fee / Service Unit (See Exhibit E) =

Service Unit (SU) (See Exhibit E) = One Impervious Acre

Impervious Acre = The product of the weighted "C" value (Table A-11, Chapter 22.2 of the DPM) and the total area in acres

#### NUMBER ACRES/LAND SERVICE TABLE A-11. RATIONAL METHOD,C TREATMENT UNITS PRECIPITATION ZONE TREATMENT 4 2 3 1 Times (\*) Са 0.27 0.31 0.35 0.39 AA) = SU'S Times (\*) Св 0.43 0.45 0.48 0.52 \_AB) = SU'S Times (\*) Сс 0.61 0.62 0.64 SU'S 0.66 Ac) = Times (\*) 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.94 SU'S CD \_AD) = Number of Service Units SU'S Drainage Facilities Impact Fee = Number of SU's \* Impact Fee= \$ Impact fee on the effective date (6/10/05) = 34% \* Impact Fee = \$ Impact fee six months after the effective date (12/10/05) = 67% \* Impact Fee = Impact fee eighteen months after the effective date (12/10/06 = 100% =Credits (Attach copy of approved Impact Fee Credit Application) = Total Impact Credits = TOTAL IMPACT FEE DUE \$\_\_\_\_\_

Applicant/Property Owner:			
	/	/	
Name (Print)	Signature	Date	
Approved			
,	/	/	
Impact Fees Administrator	Signature	Date	

#### SERVICE UNITS (SU'S) = THE SUM OF (CA\*AA + CB\*AB + Cc\*Ac + CD\*AD)

# Exhibit C, Impact Fee Credit Application City of Albuquerque

## **CREDIT REQUEST**

The City of Albuquerque Development Impact Fee Ordinance provides for a cash payment, the conveyance of property or the construction of facilities in lieu of impact fee payments for development projects within the City. Accordingly, request is made hereby to review the following information to determine the applicable credit, if any.

Type of Credit Requested:	and Onon Susas Essilition		
Public Safety Facilities	and Open Space Facilities _		
Roadway Facilities	—		
Drainage Facilities	—		
Dramage 1 actities	-		
Name of Applicant			
Address			
	/////////	/	Telephone
City	State	Zip	Telephone
Development Project and Le	egal Description		
Development Number (Preli	iminary Plat) or (Site Plan)	App	proval Date
Park, Recreation, Trails and	Open Space Facilities		
Service Area:	CCIP Project:		
Cash:		Amou	nt:
Real Property:		Amou	nt:
			nt:
Public Safety Facilities			
Service Area:	CCIP Project:		
Cash:			
Total:		Amou	nt:
Roadway Facilities			
-	CCIP Project:		
Cash:		Amou	nt:
Real Property:		Amou	nt:
Construction:		Amou	

Total:		Amount:	<u> </u>
Drainage Facilities			
Service Area:	CCIP Project:		
Cash:		Amount:	
Real Property:		Amount:	
Construction:		Amount:	
Total:		Amount:	

This application must be accompanied with the following Information:

- 1. Engineer's Estimate
- 2. Conveyance of all necessary property interests free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances
- 3. Title opinion
- 4. Tax assessment
- 5. Tax Certification
- 6. Property appraisal

Applicant:

/	,	/
Name	Signature	Date

## AMOUNT OF CREDITS APPROVED BY THE IMPACT FEES ADMINISTRATOR

Park, Recreation, Trails and Open Space Facilities			
Cash:	Amount:		
Real Property:	Amount:		
Construction:	Amount:		
Total:	Amount:		
Public Safety Facilities			
Cash:	Amount:		
Real Property:	Amount:		
Construction:			
Total:	Amount:		
Roadway Facilities			
Cash:	Amount:		
Real Property:	Amount:		
Construction:			
Total:	Amount:		
Drainage Facilities			
Cash:	Amount:		
Real Property:			
Construction: Total:		Amount: Amount:	
-------------------------	------------	--------------------	--
Amount of credits app	roved	Amount:	
Impact Fees Administr	rator:		
Name	/Signature	/Date	

# Exhibit D, Certificate of Excess Credits City of Albuquerque

Name (Credit Holde	r)				
Address	1	1		/	
City	//	//	Zip	/ Telephone	
Park, Recreation	, Trails and O	pen Space Facili	<u>ties</u>		
/	//		/	egory of Improvements	/
Account Number	Service Area	CCIP Project	Cat	egory of Improvements	Amount
Description of the applied.	Component Ca	apital Improveme	nt Plan Pr	oject for which the exce	ss credit may be
Date (The year in	which the exce	ss credits may be	applied)_		
Public Safety Fac					
/	/		/	egory of Improvements	/
Account Number	Service Area	CCIP Project	Cat	egory of Improvements	Amount
Description of the applied.	Component Ca	apital Improveme	nt Plan Pr	oject for which the exce	ss credit may be
Date (The year in	which the exce	ss credits may be	applied)		
Roadway Faciliti	<u>es</u>				
/	/		/	egory of Improvements	/
Account Number	Service Area	CCIP Project	Cate	egory of Improvements	Amount
Description of the applied.	Component Ca	pital Improveme	nt Plan Pr	oject for which the exce	ss credit may be
Date (The year in	which the exce	ss credits may be	applied)_		
Drainage Faciliti	es				
/Account Number	/ Service Area	CCIP Project	/Cate	egory of Improvements	/ Amount

Description of the Component Capital Improvement Plan Project for which the excess credit may be applied.

Date (The year in which the excess credits may be applied)

Approved		
	/	/
Credit Holder	Signature	Date
Approved		
	_/	/
Impact Fees Administrator	Signature	Date

Notes:

- 1) These excess credits shall expire if not used or redeemed within seven (7) years of the approval date of this certificate.
- 2) These excess credits shall be freely assignable provided the credit holder provides prior written notice to the City. Failure to provide prior written notice to the City shall result in forfeiture of the excess credits.
- 3) Excess credits shall only be applied to offset impact fees for the same category of improvement and for projects within the same service area for which the credit was granted.
- 4) Application for reimbursement of excess credits must be made at least ninety (90) days prior to expiration of the excess credits. Failure to apply for reimbursement within ninety (90) days prior to expiration shall constitute a waiver of the credit holders right to reimbursement.



DRAINAGE FACILITIES IMPACT FEE COST SCHEDULE								
		Service Area						
Land Use	Unit	Central City	Far NE	Tijeras	SW Mesa	NW Mesa		
All Land Uses	One impervious acre, as defined in the City of Albuquerque's Development Process Manual	\$0	\$10,208	\$13,290	\$12,836	\$14,052		

Park, Recreation, Trails and Open Space Facilities



PARK, RECREATION, TRAILS, AND OPEN SPACE FACILITIES IMPACT FEE COST SCHEDULE										
	Service Area									
Land Use	Unit	North Valley/ I-25	* FOOTDUIS/NE. Academy/NE. SW Mesa							
Residential	1,000 square feet	\$1,630	\$520	\$1,220	\$1,550	\$390	\$1,610	\$1,210		

Public Safety Facilities Service Areas



Service Area						
Land Use	Unit	East Side	West Side			
Residential	1,000 square feet (sf)	\$276	\$207			
Retail	1,000 sf	\$455	\$341			
Office	1,000 sf	\$100	\$75			
Industrial	1,000 sf	\$111	\$83			
Institutional	1,000 sf	\$108	\$81			

Roadway Facilities Service Areas



ROADWAY FACILITIES IMPACT FEE COST SCHEDULE									
		Service Area							
Land Use	Unit	Near N. Valley	1-25	Far NE Heights	NE Heights	Downtown	SW Mesa	NW Mesa	W Mesa
RESIDENTIAL									
Single Family Detached /Mobile Home Indv Lot									
Less than 1,500 square feet (sf)	DwellingUnit	\$0	\$2,113	\$1,069	\$0	\$0	\$2,702	\$2,447	\$2,918
1,500 sf to 2,499 sf	(du) du	\$0	\$3,160	\$1,585	\$0	\$0	\$4,046	\$3,662	\$4,372
2.500 sf or Larger	du	\$0	\$3,521	\$1,754	\$0	\$0 \$0	\$4,516	\$4,085	\$4,881
Multi-Family	du	\$0	\$1,276	\$512	\$0	\$0 \$0	\$1,706	\$1,520	\$1,864
Condominium/Townhouse	du	\$0	\$885	\$218	\$0	\$0	\$1,260	\$1,098	\$1,398
Mobile Home Park	du	\$0	\$1,344	\$765	\$0	\$0	\$1,671	\$1,529	\$1,790
Retirement Home	du	\$0	\$335	\$74	\$0	\$0	\$481	\$418	\$535
Congregate Care Facility	du	\$0	\$193	\$67	\$0	\$0	\$264	\$234	\$290
LODGING									
Hotel	Room	\$0	\$869	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$1,371	\$1,153	\$1,555
Motel	Room	\$0	\$837	\$336	\$0	\$0	\$1,119	\$996	\$1,222
RV Park	RV Space	\$0	\$1,025	\$441	\$0	\$0	\$1,354	\$1,211	\$1,475
RECREATION									
Golf Course	Hole	\$0	\$8,206	\$3,513	\$0	\$0	\$10,848	\$9,703	\$11,818
General Recreation (City Park)	Acre	\$0	\$374	\$162	\$0	\$0	\$493	\$442	\$537
Movie Theaters w/Matinee	Screen	\$0	\$9,422	\$4,644	\$0	\$0	\$12,112	\$10,947	\$13,100
Racquet Club/Health Club/Spa/Dance Studio	1,000 sf	\$0	\$10,440	\$6,231	\$0	\$0	\$12,810	\$11,783	\$13,680
Community Center	1,000 sf	\$0	\$5,818	\$2,769	\$0	\$0	\$7,535	\$6,791	\$8,165
INSTITUTIONAL								_	
Hospital	1,000 sf	\$0	\$2,902	\$954	\$0	\$0	\$3,998	\$3,523	\$4,401
Nursing Home	Bed	\$0	\$358	\$200	\$0	\$0	\$447	\$409	\$480
Elementary School	Student	\$265	\$618	\$502	\$0	\$0	\$683	\$655	\$707
Middle School	Student	\$252	\$814	\$630	\$0	\$0	\$919	\$873	\$957
High School	Student	\$141	\$752	\$551	\$0	\$0	\$865	\$816	\$906
Junior/Community College	Student	\$0	\$329	\$146	\$0	\$0	\$432	\$387	\$470
University	Student	\$0	\$661	\$299	\$0	\$0	\$865	\$777	\$940
Church	1,000 sf	\$318 \$521	\$3,134 \$3,208	\$2,208 \$2,324	\$0 \$0	\$0 \$0	\$3,656 \$3,706	\$3,430 \$3,490	\$3,848 \$3,889
Cemetary	Acre	\$321	\$3,208	\$2,324	30	30	\$3,700	\$5,490	\$3,889
OFFICE							**		
Under 50,000 sf	1,000 sf	\$0 60	\$4,412	\$2,076	\$0	\$0 £0	\$5,727	\$5,157	\$6,210
50,000 - 100,000 sf	1,000 sf	\$0 \$0	\$3,427 \$2,922	\$1,612 \$1,375	\$0 \$0	\$0 60	\$4,449 \$3,793	\$4,006 \$3,416	\$4,823
100,001 - 200,000 sf 200,001 - 400,000 sf	1,000 sf 1,000 sf	\$0 \$0	\$2,922 \$2,491	\$1,375	\$0	\$0 \$0	\$3,793	\$3,416	\$4,113 \$3,507
Greater than 400,000 sf	1,000 sf	\$0 \$0	\$2,491	\$1,172	\$0	\$0	\$3,234	\$2,912 \$2,483	\$3,307
Business Park	1,000 sf	\$0	\$2,895	\$1,277	\$0	\$0	\$3,806	\$3,411	\$4,140
RETAIL	1,000 51		. ,					,	.,
Under 100,000 sf	1,000 sf	\$0	\$2,760	\$200	\$0	\$0	\$4,201	\$3,577	\$4,730
100,000 - 400,000 sf	1,000 sf	\$0	\$2,894	\$662	\$0	\$0	\$4,151	\$3,607	\$4,613
400,001 to 800,000 sf	1,000 sf	\$0	\$2,920	\$792	\$0	\$0	\$4,118	\$3,599	\$4,558
Greater than 800,000 sf	1,000 sf	\$0	\$2,932	\$875	\$0	\$0	\$4,090	\$3,588	\$4,515
Quality Restaurant	1,000 sf	\$0	\$9,458	\$3,448	\$0	\$1	\$12,843	\$11,376	\$14,085
Fast Food Rest. w/Drive-Thru	1,000 sf	\$0	\$25,755	\$5,594	\$0	\$2	\$37,107	\$32,188	\$41,273
Auto Repair or Body shop	1,000 sf	\$0	\$4,920	\$2,224	\$0	\$0	\$6,438	\$5,780	\$6,995
New/Used Auto Sales	1,000 sf	\$0	\$3,758	\$444	\$0	\$0	\$5,624	\$4,815	\$6,309
Supermarket	1,000 sf	\$0	\$4,580	\$2,135	\$0	\$0	\$5,957	\$5,360	\$6,462
Convenience Store with Gas Pumps	1,000 sf	\$0	\$6,461	\$0	\$0	\$1	\$13,359	\$10,370	\$15,891
Home Improvement Superstore	1,000 sf	\$0 \$0	\$5,031	\$2,170	\$0 \$0	\$0 \$0	\$6,642	\$5,944	\$7,233
Pharmacy/Drug Store w/Drive-Thru	1,000 sf	\$0 \$0	\$2,885 \$849	\$1,082 \$411	\$0 \$0	\$0 \$0	\$3,901 \$1,096	\$3,461 \$989	\$4,273 \$1,186
Furniture Store	1,000 sf	20	3049	3411	<u>30</u>	\$U	\$1,090	3989	\$1,186
INDUSTRY	1.000.2	6207	62.047	62.107	60	60	62.550	62.245	62.74
General Light Industrial/Utilities	1,000 sf	\$395	\$3,065	\$2,187	\$0	\$0 \$0	\$3,559	\$3,345	\$3,741
General Heavy Industrial	1,000 sf	\$1,879 \$0	\$2,453 \$2,185	\$2,264 \$1,308	\$1,045 \$0	\$0 \$0	\$2,560 \$2,679	\$2,514 \$2,465	\$2,599 \$2,860
Industrial Park Manufacturing	1,000 sf 1,000 sf	\$0	\$2,185	\$1,308	\$0	\$0 \$0	\$2,679	\$2,465	\$2,880
	1,000 SI			-			-		
Warehouse	1,000 sf	\$0	\$1,546	\$921	\$0	\$0	\$1,897	\$1,745	\$2,027

## EXHIBIT F, DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR IMPACT FEE CREDITS CITY OF ALBUQUERQUE

THIS AGREEMENT is made this \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_\_, 20 \_\_\_\_, by and between the City of Albuquerque, New Mexico ("City"), whose address is P. O. Box 1293 (One Civic Plaza), Albuquerque, New Mexico 87103, and \_\_\_\_\_\_ ("Developer"), a [state the type of business entity, for instance, "New Mexico corporation," "general partnership," "joint venture," "individual," etc.:] \_\_\_\_\_\_, whose address is

and whose telephone number is \_\_\_\_\_, in Albuquerque, New Mexico, and is entered into as of the date of final execution of this Agreement.

1. <u>Recital</u>. The Developer is developing certain lands within the City of Albuquerque, Bernalillo County, New Mexico, known as [describe:]

recorded on the \_\_\_\_day of \_\_\_\_\_, 20 \_\_\_ in the records of Bernalillo County at Book Misc. \_\_\_\_, pages \_\_\_\_ through \_\_\_\_ ("Developer's Property"). The Developer certifies that the Developer's Property is owned by [state the name of the present real property owner exactly as shown on the real estate document conveying title in Developer's Property to the present owner:

("Owner").

2. The City enacted a \_\_\_\_\_ Impact Fee Ordinance (\_\_\_\_) under which the Owner may receive credits for construction of the Improvements against the impact fee otherwise due:

3. Developer proposes to install public infrastructure Improvements identified on the City's Component Capital Improvements Plan ("CCIP") upon City property which abuts or is near or on Developer's Property, for the benefit of the City. The City requires, and the Developer is willing to provide certain assurances as a prerequisite to the City's granting credits to the Developer to construct the improvements, pursuant to the City's Impact Fee Ordinance \_\_\_\_\_.

THEREFORE, the City and Developer agree:

4. <u>Deadline and Improvements</u>. The Developer agrees to install and complete the following public infrastructure improvements, identified as Project No.\_\_\_\_\_\_, to the satisfaction of the City, on or before the \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_ ("Construction Completion Deadline"), at no cost to the City:

 ("Improvements").

5. <u>Credits</u>. The City agrees to grant impact fee credits for the construction of the Improvements and/or dedication of land provided Developer complies with the terms of this Agreement. Impact fee credits shall be granted pursuant to the following terms and conditions:

A. Credits shall only be granted for the value of the construction of the Improvements and the value of the dedication of the land;

B. The value of the dedication of the land shall be based on the fair market value of the property prior to any increase in value resulting from subdivision or development approval and shall be demonstrated by an appraisal prepared by an appraiser acceptable to the City;

C. The value of the construction of the Improvements shall at the option of the Owner be based on:

a. The fair market value of the completed Improvements at the time of acceptance by the City demonstrated by an appraisal prepared by an appraiser acceptable to the City; or

b. The actual design and construction cost of the completed Improvements, including testing, surveying, construction management and inspection demonstrated by documentation acceptable to the City; and

c. The Parties agree that the estimated value of the credits will be \$\_\_\_\_\_ based on the actual design and construction cost of the Improvements and the value of the dedication of the land.

D. Credits shall first be applied against \_\_\_\_\_ impact fee imposed on \_\_\_\_\_ City Project No. \_\_\_\_\_.

E. Construction of the Improvements shall be completed and accepted by the City within two (2) years of the effective date of this Agreement. Failure to complete construction and procure acceptance within two (2) years may result in the withholding of credits.

F. If the value of the credits exceeds the amount of impact fee otherwise due, the excess credits shall become the property of the Owner subject to the following conditions of disposition:

a. Excess credits shall only be applied to offset the impact fee for the same category of improvement and for projects within the same service area for which the credit was granted;

c. Excess credits shall be freely assignable by the Owner subject to prior written notice to the City. Failure to provide prior written notice to the City may result in forfeiture of the excess credits;

d. The Owner may request reimbursement of excess credits from the City, however, the City shall not be obligated to reimburse excess credits to the Owner;

e. Excess credits shall not accrue interest and shall not be considered public money or constitute a liability of the City for any purpose whatsoever; and

f. Excess credits shall expire if not used or redeemed (reimbursed) within seven (7) years after issuance.

G. The credits shall be granted and become effective on the date of acceptance of the Improvements by the City. Acceptance shall be contingent on Developer submitting the following documentation, if applicable, in form and content acceptable to the City:

a. General warranty deed or dedication by plat;

b. Title insurance policy;

c. Property tax assessment;

d. County treasurer certification; and

e. Performance and warranty bond.

H. Any dispute arising from the determination of impact fee credits under this Agreement shall be appealed to the City's Impact Fees Administrator.

6. <u>Work Order Requirements</u>. The City agrees to issue a Work Order for the construction of the Improvements after:

The Developer submits all documents and meets all requirements A. listed in Development Process Manual, Volume 1, Chapter 5, Work Order Process, and Figure 1, including submitting a Certificate of Insurance in a form acceptable to the City. The certificate must establish that the Developer has procured or has caused to be procured public liability insurance in the amount of not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) combined single limit for accidents or occurrences which are related to the activities covered by this Agreement which cause bodily injury, death or property damage to any member of the public as a result of any condition of the Developer's Property; the Improvements; or the Developer's construction activities on Developer's Property or the City's property. The insurance policy must name the City of Albuquerque, its employees and elected officials, as their interest may appear, as additional insureds. The Developer must maintain the insurance until the City accepts the Improvements. The cancellation provision must provide that, if the policy is either canceled prior to the expiration date of the policy or is materially changed or not renewed, the issuing company will mail thirty (30) days written notice to the City, attention City Engineer.

B. The Developer complies with all applicable laws, ordinances and regulations, including, but not limited to the City Excavation Ordinance and Sidewalk Ordinance, and pays the following required engineering, staking, testing fees, price adjustment for asphalt and concrete paving, if applicable, and other related City fees and County Clerk recording fees:

<u>Type of Fee</u>	Amount
Engineering Fee	3.25%
Excavation and Sidewalk	As required per City-approved estimate
Ordinance, Street Restorations Fees	(Figure 7)

(Note: The Developer must pay the City fees which have been incurred during construction before the City will accept the public Improvements.)

7. <u>Financial Guaranty</u>. The City may grant credits for the Improvements prior to acceptance of the Improvements if the Developer provides the City with a financial guaranty ensuring completion in the form of an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount equal to 125% of the estimated cost of completing the Improvements including land acquisition costs, and design and construction costs. The City must be able to make demand on the letter of credit at any time within sixty (60) days immediately following the Construction Completion Deadline.

The Developer has requested credits prior to completion of the Improvements and has acquired or is able to acquire the following financial guaranty (attached hereto).

Type of Financial Guaranty:	
Amount: \$	Name of financial institution or surety providing
Guaranty:	
Date City first able to call Guaranty	, 200 .
Construction Completion Deadline:	, 200 .
If Guaranty other than a bond, last of	day City able to call Guaranty is: , 200
Additional information:	

8. <u>Surveying, Inspection and Testing</u>. The Improvements shall be inspected, surveyed and tested in accordance with all applicable laws, ordinances, and regulations, and according to the following terms:

A. <u>Construction Surveying</u>. Construction surveying for the construction of the Improvements shall be performed by \_\_\_\_\_\_\_. If the construction surveying is performed by an entity other than the City, the City may monitor the construction surveying and the Developer shall ensure that the construction surveying entity provides all construction surveying field notes, plats, reports and related data to the City which the City requires for review. The Developer shall pay the City a reasonable fee for any construction surveying performed by the City. As-built record drawings shall be provided to the City by the entity performing the survey.

B. <u>Construction Inspection Methods</u>. Inspection of the construction of the Improvements shall be performed by \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, a New Mexico Registered Professional Engineer. If the inspection is performed by an entity other than the City, the City may monitor the inspection and the Developer shall ensure that the inspecting entity provides all inspection results, reports and related data to the City which the City requires for review. The City retains the right to perform its own general overall inspection of the construction project at any time prior to final acceptance of the Improvements, if deemed necessary or advisable by the City Engineer. The Developer shall pay the City a reasonable fee for any inspections performed by the City.

C. <u>Field Testing</u>. Field testing of the construction of the Improvements shall be performed by \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, a certified testing laboratory under the supervision of a New Mexico Registered Professional Engineer, in accordance with the current City of Albuquerque Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction. If any field testing is performed by an entity other than the City, the City may monitor the field testing and the Developer shall ensure that the field testing entity provides all field testing results, reports and related data to the City which the City requires for review. The Developer shall pay the City a reasonable fee for any field testing performed by the City.

D. <u>Additional Testing</u>. The City retains the right to perform all additional testing which the City Engineer deems is necessary or advisable, and the Developer shall pay the City a reasonable fee therefore.

9. <u>Acceptance and Termination</u>. After the Developer completes the Improvements to the satisfaction of the City and submits the final acceptance package, the City will review it, and, if acceptable, the City will issue a Certificate of Completion and Acceptance for the Improvements. Thereafter, Developer's credits shall be issued and the Developer's obligations to the City pursuant to this Agreement shall terminate, with the exception of the bond or other guarantee which the Developer must provide to assure the materials and workmanship, as required by the City's Development Process Manual.

Indemnification. Until the Improvements are accepted by the City, the 10. Developer shall be solely responsible for maintaining the premises upon which the Improvements are being constructed in a safe condition. The Developer agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City and its officials, agents and employees from any claims, actions, suits or other proceedings arising from or out of the negligent acts or omissions of the Developer, its agents, representatives, contractors or subcontractors or arising from the failure of the Developer, its agents, representatives, contractors or subcontractors to perform any act or duty required of the Developer herein; provided, however, to the extent, if at all, Section 56-7-1 NMSA,1978 is applicable to this Agreement, this Agreement to indemnify will not extend to liability, claims, damages, losses or expenses, including attorney fees, arising out of (1) the preparation or approval of maps, drawings, opinions, reports, surveys, change orders, designs or specifications by the indemnitee, or the agents or employees of the indemnitee; or (2) the giving of or the failure to give directions or instructions by the indemnitee, where such giving or failure to give directions or instructions is the primary cause of bodily injury to persons or damage to property. The indemnification required hereunder shall not be limited as a result of the specifications of any applicable insurance coverage. Nothing herein is intended to impair any right or immunity under the laws of the State of New Mexico.

11. <u>Conveyance of Property Rights</u>. When the Improvements are completed, if the City does not own the property upon or in which the Improvements are constructed, the Developer will convey to the City all real and personal property rights which the City deems reasonably necessary, and all public Improvements, free and clear of all claims, encumbrances and liens before the City will accept the public Improvements. Conveyance may be made by appropriate dedication on the final plat of the subdivision.

12. <u>Assignment</u>. This Agreement shall not be assigned without the prior written consent of the City and the Developer and the express written concurrence of any surety which has undertaken to guarantee the completion of the Improvements. The City's approval will not be withheld unreasonably. If so assigned, this Agreement shall extend to and be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

13. <u>Payment for Incomplete Improvements</u>. If the Developer fails to complete construction of the Improvements satisfactorily by the Construction Completion Deadline the City may withhold the granting of credits or the City may make demand upon the excavation bond posted in accordance with City Street Excavation Ordinance 6-

5-2-3(A)(3) or any successor ordinance in order to obtain payment for completing the Improvements. If the cost of completing the Improvements exceeds the amount of the excavation bond, the City may proceed against the Developer for the balance of the completion costs and for any costs or damages incurred by the City as a result of Developer's failure to perform according to the terms of this Agreement.

14. <u>Binding on Developer's Property</u>. The provisions of this Agreement constitute covenants running with Developer's Property for the benefit of the City and its successors and assigns until terminated, and are binding on the Developer and the Owner and their heirs, successors and assigns.

15. <u>Notice</u>. For purposes of giving formal written notice, including notice of change of address, the Developer's and the City's addresses are as stated in the first paragraph of this Agreement. Notice may be given either in person or by certified U.S. mail, postage paid. Notice will be considered to have been received within three (3) days after the notice is mailed if there is no actual evidence of receipt.

16. <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties and supersedes any and all other agreements or understandings, oral or written, whether previous to the execution hereof or contemporaneous herewith.

17. <u>Changes to Agreement</u>. Changes to this Agreement are not binding unless made in writing, signed by both parties.

18. <u>Construction and Severability</u>. If any part of this Agreement is held to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of the Agreement will remain valid and enforceable if the remainder is reasonably capable of completion.

19. <u>Captions</u>. The captions to the sections or paragraphs of this Agreement are not part of this Agreement and will not affect the meaning or construction of any of its provisions.

20. <u>Form Not Changed</u>. Developer agrees that changes to this form are not binding unless initialed by the Developer and signed by the City's Legal Department on this form.

21. <u>Authority to Execute</u>. If the Developer signing below is not the Owner of the Developer's Property, the City may require the Developer to provide the City with satisfactory proof of Developer's authority to execute this Agreement.

Executed on the date stated in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

DEVELOPER:

#### CITY OF ALBUQUERQUE:

By:	
Name:	City Engineer
Title:	Dated:
Dated:	
Approved as to form:	
City Attorney	
DEVELOPER'S	<u>ACKNOWLEDGMENT</u>
STATE OF)	
)s COUNTY OF)	S
This instrument was acknowledge 20 by [name(s) of person(s):] [title or capacity, for instance, "President	ed before me on this day of, ." or "Owner":]
My Commission Expires:	
	Notary Public
CITY'S ACH	KNOWLEDGMENT
STATE OF NEW MEXICO ) )ss	
COUNTY OF BERNALILLO )	
This instrument was acknowledge 20by	ed before me on this day of, , as corporation.
of the City of Albuquerque, a municipal	corporation.
My Commission Expires:	
	Notary Public

### EXHIBIT G, IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT CITY OF ALBUQUERQUE

[Federally Insured Financial Institution letterhead]

[Date]\_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_\_\_

IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT AND AGREEMENT NO. \_\_\_\_\_ AMOUNT: \$\_\_\_\_\_

James B. Lewis Chief Administrative Officer City of Albuquerque P. O. Box 1293 Albuquerque, NM 87103

> Re: Letter of Credit for [Developer's name as stated in Development Agreement for Impact Fee Credits]

Dear Mr. Lewis:

This letter is to advise the City of Albuquerque ("City") that, at the request of [Developer's name as stated in Development Agreement for Impact Fee Credits]

("Developer"), [Financial Institution]	
in [city] [state]	,
has established an Irrevocable Letter of Credit in the sum of [written am	ount]
([amount in figures] \$) ("Letter	of Credit") for
the exclusive purpose of providing the financial guarantee which the Cit	
[Developer] to provide for the g	granting of Impact
Fee Credits in connection with the installation of the improvements which	ch must be
constructed at [Name of Subdivision], Proje	ct No
("Project"). The amount of the Letter of Credit is 125% of the City's est	timated cost of
construction of improvements as required by the City's Impact Fee Ordi	nance. The
improvements are identified in the Agreement between the City of Albu	
Developer, which was recorded on [date, leave blank]	, 20in the
records of the Clerk of Bernalillo County, New Mexico in Book Misc. []	leave blank]
, at pages [leave blank]to [leave blank], as amended	d ("Agreement").

A Draft or Drafts for any amount u	p to, but not in excess of [written amount]
([amount in figures] \$	) is/are available at sight at [Financial
Institution]	

[street address]		,
[city]	[state]	
between [Constr	uction Completion Deadline date established in Agreement]	
_	, 20 and [60 days thereafter]	,
20 .		

We hereby agree with the drawer of Draft(s) drawn under and in compliance with the terms of this credit that such Draft(s) will be duly honored upon presentation to the drawee if negotiated between [Construction Completion Deadline date established in Agreement:] \_\_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_\_\_and [60 days thereafter] \_\_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_\_\_.

The Draft(s) drawn under this credit must contain the clause: "Drawn under Letter of Credit and Agreement No.\_\_\_\_\_ of [Financial Institution] \_\_\_\_\_

[state] \_\_\_\_\_\_, dated \_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_" and the original Letter of Credit must be endorsed on the reverse side with the amount of each draft. This Letter of Credit must accompany each draft and be attached to the draft which exhausts this credit.

This Letter of Credit for the benefit of the City of Albuquerque shall be irrevocable until:

1. Sixty (60) days after the City accepts the completed improvements specified in the Agreement; or

2. City notification of [Developer] \_\_\_\_\_\_'s failure to comply with the terms of the Agreement, and payment by Certified Check from [Financial Institution] \_\_\_\_\_\_to the City of Albuquerque of 125% of the City's estimated costs of completing the improvements specified in the Agreement; or

3. Expiration of the date [60 days after the Construction Completion Deadline date] \_\_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_\_; or

4. Written termination of this Letter of Credit by the City of Albuquerque, signed by its Chief Administrative Officer.

This Letter of Credit will terminate at \_\_\_\_\_o'clock p.m., New Mexico time, [date 60 days after Construction Completion Deadline] \_\_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_\_.

This credit is subject to the Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits (1993 Revision), International Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 500.

Very truly yours,

[Financial Institution]

By:	
Title:	
Date:	

ACCEPTED:

CITY OF ALBUQUERQUE

By: \_\_\_\_\_\_ James B. Lewis Chief Administrative Officer Date: \_\_\_\_\_

### Exhibit H, Notice of Assignment of Credits City of Albuquerque

The impact fee credit account below has previously been established for the undersigned to be used to offset impact fee assessments in City of Albuquerque, New Mexico. Accordingly, you are hereby directed to transfer these credits as identified above to:

	/		/
Name	Signatur	re	Date
Address			
City	/State	${Zip}$	Telephone
		-	1 mphone
Park, Recreation, Trails and	d Open Space F	<b>acilities</b>	
/	/	/	
Account Number Service Ar	rea CCIP P	roject (	Category of Improvements
Amount	_/		
Public Safety Facilities			
1	/	/	
Account Number Service Ar	rea CCIP P	roject (	Category of Improvements
Amount	_/		
<b>Roadway Facilities</b>			
/	/	/	
Account Number Service Ar	rea CCIP P	roject (	Category of Improvements
Amount	_/		
Drainage Facilities			
/	/	/	
Account Number Service Ar	rea CCIP P	roject (	Category of Improvements
Amount	'		
	/		/
Credit Holder	Signatu	re	Date

	/	/
Impact Fees Administrator	Signature	Date

The credit holder signing this notice certifies that the credit holder actually is in possession of the above referenced credits and shall indemnify and hold the City harmless from any action, lien, suit, or damages that may result from the erroneous or illegal transfer of credits.

In applying for the above mentioned transfer, it shall be the applicant's responsibility to furnish, as required by the Impact Fees Administrator, all materials and information necessary to validated the transfer including, but not limited to the following:

- 1. Copy of the Development Agreement approving the transferability of impact fee credits.
- 2. Copy of the approved Certificate of Credit (Exhibit J).

## Exhibit I, Request for Reimbursement of Excess Credits City of Albuquerque

The below signed excess credit holder herby requests reimbursement of excess credits in the amounts indicated. The below signed hereby certifies that the requested amounts for reimbursement is current and correct.

		/		/
Name (Credit Holder)		Signature		Date
Address	/	/	1	
City	State	// Zip	Telephone	
Park, Recreation, Trails	and Open Sp	ace Facilities		
Account Number Service		CIP Project	/Category of Imp	// rovements
Description of the Compo credit may be applied.	nent Capital I	mprovement Plar	Project for which t	he excess
Date (The year in which the	he excess cred	its may be applie	$\overline{\mathbf{d}}$ )	
Public Safety Facilities				
Account Number Service	/C e Area C	CIP Project	/Category of Imp	/ rovements
Amount				
Description of the Compo credit may be applied.	nent Capital I	mprovement Plar	Project for which t	he excess
Date (The year in which the	he excess cred	its may be applie	d)	
<b>Roadway Facilities</b>				
/	/		/	/
Account Number Service	e Area CC	CIP Project	Category of Imp	rovements

Amount

Description of the Component Capital Improvement Plan Project for which the excess credit may be applied.

Date (The year in which the excess credits may be applied)

#### **Drainage Facilities**

/	/ /	/	/ /
Account Number	Service Area	CCIP Project	Category of Improvements
	/		
Amount			

Description of the Component Capital Improvement Plan Project for which the excess credit may be applied.

Date (The year in which the excess credits may be applied)

Approved:

	/	/
Impact Fees Administrator	Signature	Date

Note: The Impact Fees Administrator shall not be obligated to provide reimbursement in the event there is no unencumbered account balance in the City's impact fee account for the applicable service category and service area.

# Exhibit J, Certificate of Credit City of Albuquerque

Name (Credit Holde	r)			
Address	/	1	1	
City	/State	Zip	/ Telephone	/
Project Name Park, Recreation	, Trails and Ope		DRB Number es	Work Order No
Account Number	Service Area	CCIP Project	/ Category of	/ TImprovements
Amount	/			
Description of the may be applied.	Component Capi	tal Improvement	Plan Project for wh	nich the credit
Date (The year in	which the credits	may be applied)		
Public Safety Fac	<u>cilities</u>			
Account Number	///_/		/	/
	Service Area	CCIP Project	Category of	Improvements
Amount				
Description of the may be applied.	Component Capi	tal Improvement	Plan Project for wh	nich the credit
Date (The year in	which the credits	may be applied)		
<u>Roadway Faciliti</u>	<u>es</u>			
/	//		/ Category of	/
Account Number	Service Area	CCIP Project	Category of	Improvements
Amount	<u> </u>			

Description of the Component Capital Improvement Plan Project for which the credit may be applied.

Date (The year in which the credits may be applied)

#### **Drainage Facilities**

/	. /		/ /
Account Number	Service Area	CCIP Project	Category of Improvements
	/		
Amount			

Description of the Component Capital Improvement Plan Project for which the credit may be applied.

Date (The year in which the credits may be applied)

Approved		
	<u>/</u>	/
Credit Holder	Signature	Date

Approved		
	/	/
Impact Fees Administrator	Signature	Date

Notes:

- 1. Credits shall only be applied in the year the project appears in the CCIP.
- 2. Credits shall be applied first to offset the impact fee otherwise due for the development project for which the credit was granted.